Earth Negotlatlons Bulletlw

A Reportl ng Service for Environment and Devel opment Negotiations
Onlineat http://www.iisd.ca/climate/sb13/

Vol. 12 No. 151

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Monday, 18 September 2000

SUMMARY OF THE THIRTEENTH SESSIONS OF
THE SUBSIDIARY BODIESOF THE UN
FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE
CHANGE: 4-15 SEPTEMBER 2000

Thefirst part of the thirteenth sessions of the subsidiary bodies
(SB-13) of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate
Change (FCCC) was held from 11-15 September 2000, at the Palais
des Congrésin Lyon, France, preceded by one week of informal meet-
ingsfrom 4-9 September. With over 2000 participants representing
159 Parties, one observer State, 169 observer organizations and the
media, delegatesto SB-13 and theinformal meetings continued work
aimed at fulfilling the Buenos Aires Plan of Action (BAPA) adopted at
the Fourth Conference of the Parties (COP-4) in November 1998.

develop negotiating text and narrow differences on technical matters.
But even on thismore limited objective, progress was patchy. While
such text emerged on the key elements of the BAPA —mechanisms,
compliance, adverse effects, technology transfer, LULUCF and poli-
ciesand measures—all of these documentsremain riddled with
brackets. In some cases, negotiations almost ground to a halt, indi-
cating an apparent unwillingness of Partiesto make even relatively
minor concessions. With only eight weeks remaining, and with many
technical and political questions yet to be resolved, observersare
beginning to question whether COP-6 will succeed.

ABRIEFHISTORY OF THEFCCCAND THEKYOTO
PROTOCOL

The FCCC was adopted on 9 May 1992, and opened for signature

Under the BAPA, Parties set atwo-year deadlineto strengthen FCCC
implementation and preparefor the future entry into force of the Kyoto
Protocol. The upcoming Sixth Conference of the Parties (COP-6),
scheduled to take place from 13-24 November 2000, in The Hague, the
Netherlands, will mark the culmination of thistwo-year process. The
first part of SB-13 closed when the meeting was suspended on 15
September. SB-13 will resumein The Haguein November.

During the informal meetingsand thefirst part of SB-13, delegates
discussed text for decisions covering arange of technical and political
issues, with the aim of preparing for acomprehensive agreement at

at the UN Conference on Environment and Devel opment in June 1992.
It entered intoforce on 21 March 1994, 90 days after receipt of the 50th
ratification. It has currently received 184 instruments of ratification,
acceptance, approval or accession.

COP-1: Thefirst Conference of the Partiesto the FCCC (COP-1)
took placein Berlin from 28 March - 7 April 1995. In additionto
addressing anumber of important issuesrelated to the future of the
FCCC, delegates reached agreement on the adequacy of commitments
and adopted the "Berlin Mandate." Delegates agreed to establish an

COP-6. Delegates adopted draft conclusions on variousissues,
including the mechanisms, compliance, policies and measures INTHISISSUE
(P&Ms), capacity building, technology transfer, land use, land-use
change and forestry (LULUCF), Article4.8 and 4.9 of the FCCC and A Brief History of the FCCC and the Kyoto Protocal . . . ... 1
Article 3.14 of the Kyoto Protocol (adverse effects), and guidelines
under Articles 5 (methodol ogical issues), 7 (communication of infor- Reportof SB-13.......... SRR EREER PR e 2
mation) and 8 (review of information) of the Protocol. When SB-13 Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological
resumesin November, delegateswill continue consideration of a AGVICE. . e 3
number of issues, including national communications and implemen- qua diary Body for Impl ementation. .............. 7

: Joint SBI/SBSTA Sessions .. .....ovviivinnnnn. 9
tation of the Headquarters Agreement.

At theend of two weeks of intense deliberations, delegates and ABrief Analysisof SB-13 .. .. ..oii i 14

observers may have good causeto feel concerned. Political positions
on the key issues remain entrenched, with littleindication of willing- Thingsto Look for BeforeCOP-6 .................... 16
nessto compromise or move forward. Some might argue that thiswas

never the meeting’s aim, suggesting that its core purpose wasto

Thisissueof the Earth NegotiationsBulletin © <enb@iisd.org> i swritten and edited by AngelaChurie <angela@iisd.org>, Jon Hanks<jon.hanks@iiee.lu.se>, LavanyaRajamani
<lavanya@iisd.org>, Malena Sell <malena@iisd.org>, and Chris Spence <chris@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Director is
Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>.The digital editor is Andre Henry <andrei @iisd.org> and the photographer is Leila Mead <leila@interport.net>. The
Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA and DFAIT), the United States (through USAID),
the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID), the European Commission (DG-
ENV) and the Rockefeller Foundation. General Support for the Bulletin during 2000 is provided by the German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal
Ministry of Development Cooperation (BMZ), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairsof Austria, the Ministries
of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Finland, the Government of Australia, and BP Amoco. This issue was
prepared in cooperation with the UNFCCC Secretariat. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. |1SD can
be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations
Bulletin are those of the authorsand do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial
publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic versions
of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution listsand can be found on the LinkagesWWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/. The satelliteimage wastaken above Lyon ©2000
TheLiving Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to the Managing Director at <kimo@iisd.org>.




Monday, 18 September 2000

S

Voal. 12 No. 151 Page 2

open-ended Ad Hoc Group on the Berlin Mandate (AGBM) to begina
processtoward appropriate action for the period beyond 2000,
including the strengthening of commitments of Annex | Parties (devel -
oped country Parties and Partieswith economiesin transition) through
the adoption of aprotocol or other legal instrument. COP-1 also
requested the Secretariat to make arrangements for sessions of the
Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advise (SBSTA)
and the Subsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI). SBSTA servesas
thelink between the information provided by competent international
bodies, and the policy-oriented needs of the COP. SBI was created to
develop recommendationsto assist the COP in the review and assess-
ment of FCCC implementation and in the preparation and implementa-
tion of itsdecisions.

AD HOC GROUP ON THE BERLIN MANDATE: The AGBM
met eight times between August 1995 and COP-3in December 1997.
During thefirst three sessions, del egates focused on analyzing and
assessing what the possible P& M sto strengthen the commitments of
Annex | Parties could be, how Annex | countries might distribute or
share new commitments and whether commitments should take the
form of an amendment or a protocol. AGBM-4, which coincided with
COP-2in Genevain July 1996, completed itsin-depth analysis of the
likely elements of a protocol and States appeared ready to prepare a
negotiating text. At AGBM-5, in December 1996, del egates recog-
nized the need to decide whether to permit Annex | Partiesto use
mechanismsthat would give them flexibility in meeting their quanti-
fied emissionslimitation and reduction objectives (QEL ROs).

Asthe protocol was drafted during the sixth and seventh sessions
of the AGBM, in March and August 1997 respectively, delegates
streamlined aframework compilation text by merging or eliminating
some overlapping provisions within the myriad of proposals. Much of
the discussion centered on aproposal fromthe EU for al5%-cutina
basket of three greenhouse gases (GHG) by the year 2010 compared to
1990 emissionslevels. In October 1997, as AGBM-8 began, US Presi-
dent Bill Clinton called for "meaningful participation" by developing
countriesin the negotiating position he had announced in Washington.
In response, the G-77/Chinadistanced itself from attemptsto draw
developing countriesinto agreeing to new commitments.

COP-3: Thethird Conference of the Parties (COP-3) washeld
from 1-11 December 1997, in Kyoto, Japan. Over 10,000 partici pants,
including representatives from governments, intergovernmental orga-
nizations (1GOs), non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and the
media attended the Conference, which included a high-level segment
featuring statementsfrom over 125 ministers. Following intense
formal and informal negotiations, Partiesto the FCCC adopted the
Kyoto Protocol on 11 December 1997.

In the Protocol, Annex | Partiesto the FCCC agreed to commit-
mentswith aview to reducing their overall emissions of six green-
house gases (GHGS) by at least 5% bel ow 1990 level s between 2008
and 2012. The Protocol also established emissionstrading, Joint
Implementation (JI) between developed countries, and a Clean Devel-
opment Mechanism (CDM) to encourage joint emissionsreduction
proj ects between devel oped and devel oping countries. To date, 29
Parties haveratified or acceded to the Protocol. The Protocol will enter
into force 90 days after it isratified by 55 Partiesto the FCCC,
including Annex | Parties representing at least 55% of thetotal carbon
dioxide (CO,) equivalent emissionsfor 1990.

COP-4: Thefourth Conference of the Parties (COP-4) was held
from 2-13 November 1998, in Buenos Aires, Argentina. A high-level
segment, which included statements from over 100 ministersand
heads of delegation, was convened on Thursday, 12 November.
Following hours of high-level closed-door negotiationsand afinal
Plenary session, delegates adopted the Buenos Aires Plan of Action
(BAPA). Under the BAPA, the Parties declared their determination to
strengthen theimplementation of the FCCC and prepare for the future
entry into force of the Protocol. The BAPA containsthe Parties’ reso-
lution to demonstrate substantial progress on: thefinancial mecha-
nism; the development and transfer of technol ogy; theimplementation
of FCCC Articles4.8and 4.9, aswell as Protocol Articles2.3and 3.14
(adverse effects); activitiesimplemented jointly (AlJ); the mecha
nisms of the Protocol; and the preparations for the first Conference of
the Parties serving as the meeting of the Partiesto the Protocol (COP/
MOP-1).

SB-10: Thesubsidiary bodiesto the FCCC held their tenth sessions
in Bonn, Germany, from 31 May - 11 June 1999, and began the process
of fulfilling the BAPA. SBSTA considered topics such as Annex |
communications, methodol ogical issues and the devel opment and
transfer of technology. SBI discussed, inter alia, administrative and
financial matters and non-Annex | communications. SBI and SBSTA
jointly considered the mechanisms of the Protocol, AlJand compli-
ance.

COP-5: Thefifth Conference of the Parties (COP-5) met in Bonn,
Germany, from 25 October - 5 November 1999. Delegates continued
working toward fulfilling the BAPA. During the two-week meeting,
delegates deliberated decisionsfor the COP during SBI-11 and
SBSTA-11. Ninety-three ministersand other heads of delegation
addressed COP-5 during ahigh-level segment held from 2-3
November. COP-5 adopted 32 draft decisionsand conclusions on,
inter alia, thereview of theimplementation of commitments and other
FCCC provisions, and preparationsfor COP/MOP-1.

SB-12: Thetwelfth sessions of the subsidiary bodieswere held
from 12-16 June 2000, in Bonn, Germany, preceded by one week of
informal meetings, held from 5-10 June. In addition, anumber of
workshops and informal consultations were held during the months
prior to SB-12. Delegatesto SB-12 and theinformal meetings resumed
work toward fulfilling the BAPA.. During the course of SB-12 and the
preceding informal meetings, del egates focused on laying the founda-
tionsfor negotiations on acomprehensive agreement to be completed
at COP-6. Thisresulted in the adoption of 21 draft conclusionson
variousissues, including P&Ms, land use, land-use change and
forestry (LULUCEF), guidelinesunder Articles5, 7 and 8 of the
Protocol, technology transfer, and mechanisms. Between SB-12 and
SB-13, anumber of informal consultations and workshopswere
convened to advance discussions on key issuesto be resolved at COP-
6, including those relating to L UL UCF, the mechanisms, compliance,
technology transfer and adverse effects.

REPORT OF SB-13

During thefirst part of SB-13, held from 11-15 September, SBI
considered and adopted conclusionsrelating to Annex | communica-
tions, non-Annex | communications, the financial mechanism, and
administrative and financial matters, aswell asadraft decisionto be
forwarded for adoption by COP-6 on the venue of the seventh Confer-
ence of the Parties (COP-7). SBSTA considered and adopted conclu-
sionson issues such as: LULUCEF; the devel opment and transfer of



Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 3

S

Monday, 18 September 2000

technologies; “best practices’ in policies and measures (P& Ms); and
guidelines under Articles 5 (methodol ogical issues), 7 (communica-
tion of information) and 8 (review of information) of the Kyoto
Protocol. SBI and SBSTA jointly addressed and agreed to conclusions
on adverse effects, capacity building, compliance and the Protocol
mechanisms. The subsidiary bodieswere assisted intheir work by a
pre-sessional week of informal meetings held from 4-9 September
aimed at devel oping negotiating text for SB-13. During the formal
session, seven contact groups, ajoint SBI/SBSTA working group and
numerousinformal consultations and meetingswere also held. SB-13
was suspended on 15 September and will resume at COP-6.

WELCOMING CEREMONY

SB-13 formally opened on Monday morning, 11 September. COP-
5 President Jan Szyszko (Poland) welcomed delegatesto Lyon and
encouraged them to look for common ground and expl ore compro-
misesin order to streamline negotiating texts and achi eve success at
COP-6.

FCCC Executive Secretary Michael Zammit Cutajar drew partici-
pants’ attention to two political challenges: the need to support devel-
oping countriesin their responseto climate change impacts; and the
importance of realizing the goal s of the Protocol. He cautioned against
attemptsto renegotiate parts of the Protocol, sincethiswould resultin
itscollapse. He also expressed regret at the passing away of two promi-
nent figuresin climate change negotiations: Jean Ripert of France,
who chaired the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee that
resulted in the adoption of the FCCC in 1992; and Zhong Shukong,
Specia Advisor on Environmental I1ssuesin China’s Ministry of
Foreign Affairs.

Raymond Barre, Mayor of the City of Lyon, expressed his hope for
asuccessful outcome for SB-13. He noted the presence of France's
Prime Minister and Minister of Spatial Planning and Environment asa
sign of the political and economic importance attached to the work on
climate change.

French Prime Minister Lionel Jospin noted France's active support
for early ratification of the Protocol. He stressed the importance of
domestic action asthe most important instrument to reduce emissions,
and sai d the mechani sms should be applicable to no more than half of
the effortsfrom each State. He al so expressed caution over theinclu-
sion of sinks. He urged devel oping countries not to postpone action,
and recommended expeditious adoption of the CDM. He stated that his
Government’ s recent measuresto mitigate theimpact of rising oil
prices did not compromise France's climate change programme.

SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR SCIENTIFIC AND
TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE

SBSTA Chair Harald Dovland (Norway) opened the first meeting
of SBSTA'sthirteenth session on Monday, 11 September, shortly after
the welcoming ceremony. During this meeting, delegates briefly
considered organizational matters, adopting the provisional agenda
and organization of work for the session (FCCC/SBSTA/2000/L..5).

METHODOLOGICAL | SSUES

L ULUCF: Thetopic of land use, land-use change and forestry was
considered ininformal meeting held during the pre-sessional week.
Co-Chaired by Halldor Thorgeirsson (Iceland) and Philip Gwage
(Uganda), the group met in six informal sessions between Monday, 4
September, and Saturday, 9 September. Participants considered
Parties’ submissionson LULUCF contained in aconsolidated

synthesisdocument prepared by the Secretariat, the compilation text of
country-specific dataand information submitted by Partiesby 1
August, and the document on implications of accounting frameworks
on preliminary assigned amounts during the first commitment period.
During SB-13, delegates addressed the issue on Monday, 11
September. A contact group on LULUCF was convened and met three
times between Tuesday, 12 September, and Thursday, 14 September, to
consider the Co-Chairs' text on elementsrelated to Article 3.3 (affor-
estation, reforestation and deforestation) and 3.4 (additional activi-
ties), and SBSTA conclusions. In addition, aspecial sessionon
LULUCF and the CDM was convened on Thursday, 14 September.
SBSTA adopted conclusions on LULUCF on Friday, 15 September.

Starting on Monday, 4 September, participants at theinformal
sessions considered Parties’ consolidated submissionson LULUCEF,
focusing on: proposed definitions and accounting approaches under
Article 3.3; how and which additional human-induced activities might
beincluded under Article 3.4, including modalities, rules and guide-
linesrelated to these activities and their accounting; methodol ogiesfor
measuring and reporting in relation to Article 3.3 and 3.4 activities;
overall accounting approachesin relation to the requirements of
Article 3.3, 3.4 and 3.7 (cal culating assigned amountsin thefirst
commitment period); reversibility, natural effects and accounting
interlinkages; and other issues.

Luiz Gylvan MeiraFilho, President of the Brazilian Space Agency,
gave apresentation outlining the implications of different approaches
toincluding LULUCF among climate change mitigation objectives
under the Protocol. He noted the current temporary uptake of carbonin
the biosphere due to natural effects, and said that under afull carbon
accounting approach, Annex | countrieswould be allowed to emit
more than under abusiness-as-usual scenario. Co-Chair Thorgeirsson
introduced the compilation text of country-specific dataand informa-
tion submitted by Parties, and the document on implications of
accounting frameworks on preliminary assigned amounts during the
first commitment period. The EU and Tuvalu noted gapsin existing
data, and stressed dataasacrucia input to the negotiating process.
Australianoted that Annex | countries had the capacity to make
adequate carbon measurements.

Co-Chair Thorgeirsson then requested delegates to focus on key
unresolved issues. On separating natural effects from human-induced
effects, Switzerland, opposed by Canada, supported anegotiated
threshold to deal with the human-induced effects, which could also be
adjusted to deal with issues of uncertainty and permanence. On eligi-
bility of Article 3.4 activities, Tuvalu drew attention to the insuffi-
ciency of existing data, suggesting it would be difficult to base asound
decision on such data. On limitation of debitsand credits of additional
activities, the US supported using athreshold, opposed using a cap,
and said apossible phase-in approach should provideincentivesto
take action. On aggregation-degradation, Australiasaid he could
support a process decision at COP-6.

On 9 September, Co-Chair Thorgeirsson introduced the new Co-
Chairs' text on elementsrelated to Article 3.3 and 3.4 that would bethe
basisfor deliberations during SB-13.

During theformal SB-13, delegatesinitially addressed the issue of
LULUCEF at the SBSTA Plenary on Monday, 11 September. Japan
stated its opposition to separating human-induced and natural effects,
while Switzerland said theintegrity of the Protocol depended on their
separation. The EU said additional activities under Article 3.4 should
not be applied during the first commitment period unlessits concerns



Monday, 18 September 2000

S

Val. 12 No. 151 Page 4

rel ated to scale, uncertainties and risks associated with sinkswere
resolved. Canada expressed confidence that these concerns could be
met and, with Japan, stressed inclusion of Article 3.4 activitiesinthe
first commitment period asacondition for ratification of the Protocol.
A contact group was then convened to continue discussions.

On Tuesday, 12 September, Brazil, on behalf of the G-77/China,
presented basic principlesfor Article 3.3 and 3.4 to the contact group.
Hesaid that, inter alia: activities should not change the Protocol’s
global climate change mitigation effect; forest conservation and reha-
bilitation of degraded lands should be recognized as adaptation activi-
tiesand receive ashare of the mechanisms' proceeds; atransfer of
commitmentsto afuture commitment period should not be allowed;
carbon removed through LULUCF activities should be considered
temporary; and the simple presence of carbon stocksin national reser-
voirsshould not result in creditsin linewith Article 5.2 (adjustments).
Co-Chair Gwage said the principles outlined by the G-77/Chinawoul d
provide the basisfor apreamblefor adecision on Article 3.3 and 3.4.

On Wednesday, 13 September, del egates provided their views on
the Co-Chairs' text on elementsrelated to Article 3.3 and 3.4. Switzer-
land submitted awritten proposal on behalf of the Environmental
Integrity Group (Switzerland, Republic of Koreaand Mexico).
Following discussions, Co-Chair Thorgeirsson noted support by
several Partiesfor the FAO forest definition with Party-specific thresh-
olds, and by somefor definitionsat theinternational level, as deter-
mined by the COP. He recognized that Parties did not find a separate
definition of “historic” with regardsto afforestation and reforestation
useful. He said some Parties suggested removing paragraphs distin-
guishing harvesting from deforestation, and that the group would
consider theissue of degradation further. He said he had received
useful guidance on the size of the assessment unit, and welcomed
discussion of forest management. Bolivia, on behalf of several Latin
American countries, introduced atextual proposal that also related to
Article12 (CDM).

On Thursday, 14 September, the contact group considered draft
SBSTA conclusions. Tuvalu said conclusions on text that had yet to be
discussed by the group would be premature, and New Zealand
suggested bracketing the draft decision text for COP-6 and COP/
MOP-1.

Continuing consideration of the Co-Chairs' text on elements
related to Article 3.3 and 3.4, several Partiesdrew attention to their
submissions on thetext ascompiled in anew miscellaneous document.

In aspecial session on the evening of Thursday, 14 September,
delegates considered theissue of LULUCF projectswithinthe CDM.
Brazil, Peru, Chile, Colombia, New Zealand, CostaRica, Bolivia,
Australia, the US, Japan, Uruguay, Canada, Norway and the Environ-
mental Integrity Group argued infavor of inclusion, citing avariety of
motivations and preconditions. The EU, Tuvalu, Samoa, Chinaand
Jamaicaurged that the CDM exclude provision for sinks.

On Friday, 15 September, SBSTA adopted conclusionson
LULUCF (FCCC/SBSTA/2000/L .6 and Add.1). These conclusions
note with appreciation the documents considered during the session,
and invite the Chair to further devel op the elements of adraft decision
on Article 3.3 and 3.4 based on oral and written Party input during the
first part of SBSTA-13, and oninformal consultationsin Viterbo, Italy,
scheduled for 9-11 October 2000. The conclusions urge Partiesthat
haveyet to supply completedatarelated to LULUCFtodosoby 1
November 2000.

GUIDELINESUNDER ARTICLESS5,7AND 80F THE
PROTOCOL : Delegatesin the group on guidelines under Protocol
Articles 5 (methodol ogical issues), 7 (communication of information)
and 8 (review of information) met in seven informal sessions between
Monday, 4 September and Saturday, 9 September, to elaborate the
guidelinesunder Articles 7 and 8. A small drafting group also met to
further the work on guidelines under Article 8 and guidance under
Article 5.2 (adjustments) asabasisfor further negotiation. At the
formal SBSTA Plenary on Monday, 11 September, acontact group was
formed. Thisgroup met threetimes. The conclusionsdeveloped during
these contact group meetings were adopted by SBSTA on Friday, 15
September.

On Monday, 4 September, the Co-Chairs of theinformal sessions,
Helen Plume (New Zealand) and Festus L uboyera (South Africa),
noted that someissues considered by the group would be further elabo-
rated at alater stage, asthey depended on the work of other groups,
such ason LULUCEF, adverse effects and the mechanisms. Co-Chair
Plume stressed the need to move forward on the el ements without pre-
empting thework of the other groups. The group briefly considered the
draft guidelinesunder Article 8. A number of participants preferred
replacing theterm “ shall” with “may” when referring to the tasks of
the Expert Review Teams (ERTS). Saudi Arabiasaid the G-77/China
was not in a position to comment on text and needed moretime. Under
draft guidelinesunder Article 7, the group considered the crosscutting
issue of assigned amount reporting by Parties. Following theintroduc-
tion of the relevant draft text from the mechanisms group by the Secre-
tariat, delegates discussed timeframes and modes for reporting on
information under assigned amounts.

In the subsection on guidelinesunder Article 7.1 (inclusion of
supplementary information in annual inventories), the US, opposed by
the EU and A ustralia, proposed del eting the section on adjustmentsin
accordance with Article 5.2, maintaining that reporting should bethe
responsibility of the review team, not the Party. On consideration of
Article 7.2 (inclusion of supplementary information in national
communications), the US, Norway, Saudi Arabiaand the EU ques-
tioned the timing for the submission of national communicationsand
wherethis should be treated. On national registries, the US under-
scored the importance of discussions on the mechanismsfor the work
inthisgroup.

On Friday, 8 September, delegates compl eted discussionson the
guidelinesunder Article 7. Saudi Arabia, on behalf of the G-77/China,
opposed by the EU, suggested new headings on information related to
transfer of technology and additional financial resources, and high-
lighted their textual proposal on information on implementation of
Protocol Article 3.14. New Zealand proposed a new heading on issu-
ance and cancellation of assigned amounts under Protocol Article 3.3
and 3.4.

On Saturday, 9 September, Parties continued deliberationson Part |
of the guidelinesunder Article 8, General Approachto Review. The G-
77/Chinabracketed most of thetext, citing insufficient timeto
consider it. The Secretariat distributed draft decisions on national
systems under Article 5.1, methodol ogies for adjustments under
Article5.2, and guidelines under Articles 7 and 8, to be taken by COP-
6 and COP/MOP-1.

At the SBSTA Plenary on Monday, 11 September, aformal contact
group was convened, which met three times during the week. Dele-
gates considered draft conclusionsfor thefirst part of SBSTA-13, and



Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 5

S

Monday, 18 September 2000

draft decision text on Article 5.2 for COP-6 and COP/MOP-1, and the
draft guidelines under Article 8 as progressed by the small drafting
group during the previous week.

During discussionsin the contact groups, Co-Chair Plume noted
that the draft conclusions under consideration did not specify whether
separate decisionswould be taken at COP-6 on the guidelines under
Articles5,7 and 8. She highlighted the proposal to hold an informal
consultation on these mattersin October. On demonstrable progress,
Saudi Arabia, opposed by the EU, proposed del eting the paragraph
recognizing thefirst national communication submitted under Article
7.2, stressing that the approach was too narrow. Switzerland suggested
compromise language that was accepted by the group, referring in
general to Article 7 rather than specifically to Article 7.2.

Onthedraft decision text on Article 5.2 for COP-6 and COP/M OP-
1, Saudi Arabia, supported by Tuvalu, Peru, Chinaand Brazil, and
opposed by the US and New Zeal and, suggested del eting referencesto
activitiesunder Article 3.3 and 3.4 at this stage.

Indiscussionsof Part |1 of the guidelinesunder Article 8, Review
of Annual Inventories, delegates bracketed many paragraphs. Under
identification and classification of problemsby ERTSs, the US, opposed
by the EU, proposed moving the section on classification, stressing
that ERT’s should identify rather than classify problems. On timing,
the US suggested setting strict deadlines for submission of reports,
whileleaving broader issuesflexible. Parties considered New
Zealand's proposal on Part |11 of the guidelinesunder Article 8,
Review of Information on Assigned Amounts, and Part |11 bis, Annual
Compilation and Accounting of Emission Inventories and Assigned
Amounts. The G-77/China proposed bracketing the entire text. On the
scope of the review, the EU suggested that it cover cancellation of
assigned amount units, including cancellation with respect to Article
3.3and 3.4. Co-Chair Plumeintroduced Part 1V of the guidelines
under Article 8, Review of National Systems, based on submissions
fromthe EU and Australia. On Thursday, 14 September, Co-Chair
Plume closed the contact group after inviting Partiesto submit views
ontheguidelinesunder Articles’5.2, 7 and 8 to the Secretariat before
29 September.

The conclusions (FCCC/SBSTA/2000/L.7 and Add.1,2,3) adopted
at the SBSTA Plenary include agreement that the SBSTA, at the
second part of SBSTA-13, will further consider guidelines under Arti-
cles7 and 8 and possible elementsfor adraft decision or decisionson
Articles5.1, 5.2, 7 and 8, which are attached as addendato the conclu-
sions. SBSTA aso invited the Chair to further devel op the draft texts
relating to guidelines under Articles 7 and 8 and methodol ogiesfor
adjustmentsunder Article 5.2, based on oral and written views
expressed by Partiesduring thefirst part of SBSTA-13 and at informal
consultations prior to the second part of SBSTA-13, with aview to
recommending adraft decision on the matters at COP-6 for adoption at
COP/MOP-1.

IMPACT OF SINGLE PROJECTSONEMISSIONSIN THE
COMMITMENT PERIOD: SBSTA considered thisitem in Plenary
on Monday, 11 September. Chair Dovland noted that Parties had made
no submissions on the matter by 17 July 2000, as requested by SBSTA-
11. Following statements by Iceland and other Annex | countries, he
concluded that full agreement had yet to be reached, and requested Ole
Plougmann (Denmark) to conduct informal consultations on theissue.

On Friday, 15 September, Plougmann reported that although
Parties had come to the meeting without apolitical mandate to nego-
tiatetext for adraft decision, they had been activein exchanging ideas

and concerns. He noted that Parties had expressed awish to reflect
further on the material produced and to continue consideration of the
issue during the second part of SBSTA-13, with the aim of developing
adecision for COP-6. SBSTA adopted its conclusions (FCCC/SBSTA/
2000/L..5), agreeing to consider theissue further at its next session.

OTHER METHODOLOGICAL MATTERS: Emissions
resulting from fuel used in international transportation: On
Monday, 11 September, the Secretariat reported on cooperation with
International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAQ) and the Interna-
tional Maritime Organization (IMO), and on effortswithin these orga-
nizationsto identify optionsto limit and reduce greenhouse gas
emissions. Chair Dovland noted their progressreports, asrequested by
SBSTA-11. The IMO introduced its study on greenhouse gas emis-
sionsfrom ships, which will be available at SBSTA-14.

On Friday, 15 September, delegates adopted SBSTA conclusions
(FCCC/SBSTA/2000/L.5) on thisissue, encouraging ICAO and IMO
to compl ete their work as soon as possible, and noting the importance
of coordination by Parties at the national level of their work related to
greenhouse gas emissions from international aviation and shipping.

M ethodsand toolsfor vulner ability and adaptation assess-
ments: Delegates considered thisissue on Monday, 11 September.
Chair Dovland drew attention to the methods and tool sto assess
climate change impacts and adaptation. The Secretariat noted that a
workshop with |PCC expertswould be held following the rel ease of
the|PCC Third Assessment Report (TAR) in April 2001. Inthe
conclusions (FCCC/SBSTA/2000/L .8) adopted on Friday, 15
September, SBSTA requeststhe Secretariat to organize aworkshop
with participation of the IPCC experts and the user community to
explore: developing country experiencesin applying current impact
and adaptation methodol ogies and their emerging needs; the current
state of the art of methodsidentified in the |PCC TAR; and optionsfor
improving the quality and dissemination of information on impact
adaptation methodol ogies. The Secretariat isrequested to report the
results of theworkshop at SBSTA-14. Partieswereinvited to actively
participatein and provide support for the workshop.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRANSFER OF TECHNOLOGIES:
STATUS OF THE CONSULTATIVE PROCESS

Delegates considered the development and transfer of technol ogy
ininformal workshops held from 5—9 September. It was considered
further in contact group discussions convened by SBSTA and Co-
Chaired by Dean Cooper (Canada) and Oladapo Afolabi (Nigeria),
from 11-14 September.

On Tuesday, 5 September, del egates considered the report of the
consultations of the Friends of the Chair on devel opment and transfer
of technology held in Colorado, USA. The conclusions, containedin a
non-paper, highlighted the five key themesfor adraft framework for
the enhancement and effective implementation of technology develop-
ment and transfer under the FCCC, identified at SBSTA-12: tech-
nology needs and needs assessment, technol ogy information, enabling
environments, capacity building and mechanismsfor technology
transfer.

During theinformal workshops, delegates heard presentations by
the Secretariat on apossible framework for atechnology transfer
system, and by the Climate Technology Initiative on itswebsite. In the
discussions, the Philippines, speaking on behalf of the G-77/China,
expressed concern that needswere still being assessed after five years.
She proposed including asection in the framework addressing actions



Monday, 18 September 2000

S

Voal. 12 No. 151 Page 6

taken to implement the technology transfer commitments. On needs
assessment, Canada and the US proposed an integrated approach
beyond needs assessment in anarrow sense, to improve the enabling
environment for technology transfer. Other issuesraised include the
role of aclearinghouse, the use of existing institutions, and the need to
avoid duplication of matters being addressed elsewhere. The US said
capacity building for the identification of CDM projects could maxi-
mizetheir use for technology transfer.

Regarding the mechanismsfor technology transfer, participants
discussed the GEF srole, whether to establish an intergovernmental
technical advisory panel and afunding mechanism for technology
transfer, and the need for integrated approaches. Several participants
said official development assistance (ODA) should not be used for
technology transfer, since thiswould be adistortion of development
priorities. The Republic of Koreastressed the need to examinethe
supply of technology. The GEF said existing programmes, such asthe
Medium-Sized Projects programme, could be used asameansfor
transferring technol ogy.

On Monday, 11 September, SBSTA considered technology devel-
opment and transfer during its opening session. A contact group on
technology transfer was convened and met several timesfrom 12-14
September. During thistime, delegates discussed arevised Co-Chairs
draft framework to enhance implementation of FCCC Article 4.5
(development and transfer of technology), which drew on the discus-
sions during the week of informal meetings. They then considered the
different themes of the draft framework. There was divergence over
the purpose of the framework, with the US, Canadaand the EU stating
that it should enhance implementation of Article4.5. The G-77/China
emphasized that the framework shall serve asaframework for imple-
mentation of Article 4.5 commitments, and stressed that the extent to
which devel oping countries can implement their commitments under
the FCCC depended on effective participation by developed countries.
Other issues discussed included whether to refer to “ state of the art
technologies,” the use of theterm “ equitable” when referring to the
technology transfer process, and the meaning of “integrated
approaches.”

On Thursday, 14 September, del egates discussed the Co-Chairs’
draft conclusions. The US, EU and Canada objected to aG-77/China
call toincludereferenceto adraft decision it had tabled earlier in the
day, noting that they had not seenit.

The G-77/Chinaproposed deleting a paragraph in the Co-Chairs’
conclusionsthat invite the SBSTA Chair, with the assistance of the
Secretariat, to provide additional reports on the outcome of the
regional workshop, noting the limited time at COP-6 for negotiations.
She questioned the purpose of additional information and itsinput to
thediscussions. The UK said the workshop would inform negotiators
new to the process. Malaysianoted that the SBSTA Chair had the
discretion to decideif and when to organize informal meetings.

On Friday, 15 September, SBSTA adopted itsdraft conclusionson
the status of the consultative process on technology development and
transfer (FCCC/SBSTA/2000/CRP.8). The conclusions note the report
by the Chair on the status of thetransfer of technology consultative
process and the draft text of aframework for meaningful and effective
actionsto enhance the implementation of Article 4.5, and agreeto
consider arevised draft text (FCCC/SBSTA/2000/CRP.8/Add.1) and
additional submissions on this matter received from Parties, including
document FCCC/SBSTA/2000/MISC.9, at the second part of SB-13.
Inthe conclusions, SBSTA also invitesthe Chair, with the assistance of

the Secretariat, to organize an informal meeting and brief presentation
at the resumed SB-13in November on the regional workshopson the
technology transfer consultative process, and requeststhe Secretariat
tofurther elaborate aproposal for activitiesin the area of technology
information taking into account, inter alia, theresourceimplications
of continuing thiswork at different levels of effort. The draft frame-
work (FCCC/SBSTA/2000/CRP.8/Add.1) isannexed to the conclu-
sions.

“BEST PRACTICES’ IN POLICIESAND MEASURES

Theissue of “best practices” in polices and measures (P& Ms)
among Annex | Partieswas addressed in two informal meetingsduring
the pre-sessional week, at a SBSTA Plenary session on Monday, 11
September, and in two subsequent contact groups. Conclusions and
elementsfor adraft decision on P& Mswere adopted by SBSTA on
Friday, 15 September.

During the informal meeting on Tuesday, 5 September, Co-Chair
José Romero (Switzerland) summarized the outcome of the P& Ms
workshop held in April in Copenhagen, and briefly reviewed the
discussionsat SBSTA-12. Herequested Partiesto focus on devel oping
adecision for COP-6. The EU proposed objectivesrelating to: infor-
mation exchange and experience; facilitating cooperation between
Parties; and facilitating assessment of demonstrable progress. Canada
asked whether facilitating cooperation would be abilateral , trilateral or
multilateral exercise. The USand Australiasaid countries could
demonstrate progress through institutional and legal stepstakento
achieve Protocol Article 3.1 commitments, while Japan suggested the
assessment be based on national communications. The Marshall
Idlands, speaking for AOSI S, stressed the need for Annex | Partiesto
take domestic action through P& Ms, while Zimbabwe highlighted
their impact on devel oping countries. On text for aCOP-6 decision, the
EU emphasized the need for a“ continuous and structured process’ to
addresstheissueswithinits proposed objectives. Switzerland, with
AOSIS, supported using the EU proposal asthe basisfor the COP-6
decision. Tanzaniasought clarity on the need for a separate reporting
system for demonstrable progress, and proposed specifying time-
framesfor information exchange. Peru underlined cost implications
associated with best practices.

On Thursday, 7 September, Co-Chair Richard Muyungi (Tanzania)
presented draft conclusions and elementsfor adraft decision. The G-
77/Chinaasked the Co-Chair to postpone discussion on the draft text
pending internal G-77/Chinaconsideration. Parties made general
commentsrelated to, inter alia: continuing work into thefuture;
avoiding referenceto issues under discussionin other groups; and
ensuring that the outcomeisfocused on helping to implement the
provisions of Protocol Article 2 (P& Ms).

At the SBSTA-13 meeting on Monday, 11 September, the EU
emphasi zed experience sharing and information exchange, identifying
opportunitiesfor cooperation, and contributing to the assessment of
demonstrable progress. Canada, with the US and Japan, emphasized
that the Copenhagen workshop on P& Msfulfilled relevant BAPA
requirements. He recommended avoiding linkages with other issues,
including demonstrable progress. Uruguay highlighted the possible
impact of P& Mson developing countries. A contact group was estab-
lished.

At thefirst contact group meeting on Tuesday, 12 September, dele-
gates considered text on elementsfor adraft decision. The US
proposed arevised title referring to cooperation, facilitation and



Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 7

S

Monday, 18 September 2000

Article 2.1(b) (cooperation on P& Ms). Saudi Arabiaopposed this
proposal, supporting the original title amended to refer to “ good prac-
tices.” Regarding the draft decision, del egates accepted text proposed
by the US acknowledging completion of the BAPA requirements. On
continuing information exchange, delegates discussed revised text
proposed by the US on “considering ways’ to facilitate cooperation on
P&Msunder Article 2.1(b). The G-77/China proposed bracketing
referenceto sub-paragraphs 1 and b. Venezuel a, opposed by theUS
and Canada, included referenceto Protocol Article 2.3 (adverse effects
of P&Ms). The G-77/China, opposed by Canada and Japan, urged
limiting the scope of the decisionto Annex | Parties. The EU, opposed
by Canada, Japan and Australia, emphasized the establishment of a
consultative processto ensure continuity of information exchange. On
the nature of future activities, Canada, the US and Japan, opposed by
the EU, proposed referenceto “future work” rather than a“ consulta-
tive process.” Japan and Australia highlighted information exchange
on cross-sectoral issues. The EU and Switzerland advocated an addi-
tional sentence onimproving mutual understanding and learning.

Delegates compl eted discussions on the elementsfor adraft deci-
sion at ameeting of the contact group on Wednesday, 13 September.
Canada, the US, Japan and Australia, opposed by the EU, urged brack-
eting all referencesto the “ consultative process.” The US and Japan
bracketed thelist of activitiesaimed at improving the transparency,
effectiveness and comparability of P& Ms. Japan and the US, opposed
by the EU and G-77/China, advocated del eting thelink between P& Ms
and demonstrabl e progress. Japan questioned reference to measuring
demonstrable progress by means of criteriaand quantitative parame-
ters. The G-77/Chinaand Saudi Arabia, opposed by Canadaand
Australia, proposed text on the need to minimize the adverse effects of
Annex | Parties' P&Ms.

On the contribution of international organizationsto the process,
the G-77/Chinaand Saudi Arabiaurged specific referenceto OPEC.
Hungary and the EU proposed referenceto “relevant international and
intergovernmental organizations.” The US bracketed arequest to the
Secretariat to organi ze aworkshop and to report the workshop results
to COP-7. The G-77/China proposed instead that the results of the
listed activitiesfor improving the transparency, effectivenessand
comparability of P& Msbereported. Delegates briefly considered the
draft SBSTA conclusions. Referencesto Article 2.1 and to aconsulta-
tive processwere del eted.

On Friday, 15 September, SBSTA adopted conclusionson P& Ms
(FCC/SBSTA/2000/CRP.9) that: recognize with appreciation, therole
of theworkshop on “best practices’ in P&Ms, held in Copenhagenin
April 2000, in advancing work on sharing experience and exchanging
information on P& Ms; note the progress made on this matter; and
decideto forward to the second part of SBSTA-13in November the
elements of adraft decision to be recommended to COP-6. Draft
elementsfor adecision are attached as an annex to the conclusion.
Much of the text remains bracketed, reflecting the divergent opinions
presented during the contact group discussions.

COOPERATION WITH RELEVANT INTERNATIONAL
ORGANIZATIONS

Delegates considered cooperation with relevant international orga-
nizations on Monday, 11 September. The Secretariat said that fifth
meeting of the COP of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD)
had passed a decision on climate change issues, including LULUCF
and coral reefs. He undertook to provide further information at the
second part of SBSTA-13.

On Friday, 15 September, SBSTA adopted conclusions on coopera-
tion with relevant international organizations (FCCC/SBSTA/2000/
L.5). Inthese conclusions, SBSTA takes note of theinformation
provided by the Secretariat regarding cooperation between the Secre-
tariat and UN bodies and other international conventions, particularly
the CBD, and requeststhe Secretariat to continue the cooperation on
substantive matterswith the CBD and other UN conventions and agen-
cies, and toinform it at subsequent sessions of the progress achieved.

OTHER MATTERS

On Monday, 11 September, delegates heard areport from the
Secretariat on theroster of experts. The Secretariat noted that there are
671 expertson thelist, and that updates were being received on 99
experts, with another 71 nominations being processed.

On Friday, 15 September, SBSTA adopted conclusions on other
matters (FCCC/SBSTA/2000/L .5). Initsconclusions, SBSTA notes
that the Secretariat had provided areport on the status of the roster of
experts, and that the Secretariat encouraged Partiesto nominate addi-
tional expertsfor theroster and to update roster information regularly.

CLOSING SBSTA PLENARY

In Plenary on the afternoon of Friday, 15 September, del egates
adopted the draft report of SBSTA-13 (FCCC/SBSTA/2000/L.5).
Burkina Faso, for the Africa Group, emphasized the need for the trans-
| ation and wide dissemination of technical reports. In hisclosing
remarks, Chair Dovland noted that while progress had been made, it
was hot as much as he had hoped for. He highlighted the need for dele-
gatesto reconsider their positionsif COP-6 isto be asuccess. He
gaveled the meeting to aclose at 1:05 pm.

SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR IMPLEMENTATION

Thefirst meeting of SBI’sthirteenth session was held on Monday,
11 September, following the SB-13 welcoming ceremony. SBI Chair
John Ashe (Antigua& Barbuda) welcomed participants, and reported
that 184 Parties had ratified or acceded to the FCCC. At this meeting,
delegates considered organi zational matters, adopting the agendaand
organization of work for the session (FCCC/SBI/2000/L .2).

ANNEX | COMMUNICATIONS: GREENHOUSE GAS
INVENTORY DATA FROM 1990 TO 1998

On Tuesday, 12 September, the SBI considered the report on
national greenhouse gasinventory datafrom Annex | Partiesfor 1990-
1998. Argentinanoted successful measures undertaken by the UK and
Germany to reduce emissions and highlighted continuing emissions
increasesinthe US. Hesaid Annex | commitments must be met. The
EU expressed sati sfaction with the number of Annex | Partiesusing the
new reporting format. He noted with concern the continuing emissions
increase in some countries.

On Friday, 15 September, the SBI took note of document FCCC/
SBI1/2000/11, containing the latest availableinformation. Chair Ashe
noted arequest by the G-77/Chinato el aborate a further document
based on thefirst oneto provide information on trendsin greenhouse
gasesin Annex | countriesin both tables and graphicsintimefor COP-
6. The US expressed concern at thisissue being introduced at this
stage. Following brief informal consultations, del egates accepted a
proposal requesting the Secretariat to further elaborate the document
in the form of tables and graphics at COP-6, without prejudicefor
further compilation at SBSTA-14. Draft conclusions on national
communicationsfrom Annex | Partieswill be presented at the second
part of SBI-13in November.



Monday, 18 September 2000

Voal. 12 No. 151 Page 8

NON-ANNEX | COMMUNICATIONS

On Tuesday, 12 September, participants met to discuss non-Annex
| national communications. Delegates discussed the role of the Consul-
tative Group of Experts (CGE), and Kenyaand Vanuatu drew attention
tothefinancial shortfall facing the CGE. The Philippines said there
had been awaste of resourcesin relation to the CGE, and called for a
review of itstermsof reference. Chinaurged Annex Il countriesto
provide adequate financial support to CGE. The US said many Parties
regarded the CGE as auseful group, and supported its activities.

Draft conclusions on provision of financial and technical support
for national communicationsfrom non-Annex | Partieswill be
presented at the second part of SBI-13. A report of the second meeting
of the CGE, and the second compilation and synthesis of initial
national communicationswill be taken up at the second part of SBI-13.

FINANCIAL MECHANISM

SBI considered mattersrelating to the financial mechanism on
Tuesday, 12 September, and Friday, 15 September, aswell asina
number of informal meetings held from 12-15 September.

SUPPORT TO THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL PANEL ON
CLIMATE CHANGE: The SBI briefly addressed thisissue on 12
September and again on 15 September, when it adopted the SBI
Chair’sdraft conclusions (FCCC/SBI/2000/CRP.10). These conclu-
sionstake note of the IPCC Chair’s statement on the status of the
project proposal on capacity building: Assessmentsof Vulnerability
and Adaptation to Climate Changein Multiple Regionsand Sectorsin
Coordination with the IPCC. The conclusions a so note that the GEF
has approved a Project Preparation and Development Facility grant of
US $350,000 for the development of afull proposal.

REPORT OF THE GLOBAL ENVIRONMENT FACILITY
TO THE COP: Atitsthird meeting on Tuesday, 12 September, the
SBI decided to consider this sub-item formally during the second part
of SB-13. However, on Tuesday, 12 September, Partiesalso engagedin
aninformal question-and-answer session with GEF Chair and CEO
Mohamed El-Ashry. Responding to Kenya's comment on the difficul-
tiesin dealing with the implementing agencies, El-Ashry said the GEF
wastrying to improve the responsiveness of the implementing agen-
cies. He assured del egates that the GEF would act according to the
guidance received from the COP. On questions about whether the GEF
might reconsider its current focus on mitigation projectsin favor of
other areas, such as adaptation, once the CDM isintroduced, El-Ashry
noted the limited guidance provided by the COP on adaptation activi-
ties, and added that the specifics of the CDM had yet to be decided.
However, he assured Partiesthat the GEF would avoid duplication. El-
Ashry said Parties should communicate their concerns so that any
problems could be addressed.

OTHER MATTERSRELATED TO THE FINANCIAL
MECHANISM: Additional guidancetothe GEF: On Tuesday, 12
September, SBI briefly took up the matter of additional guidancetothe
GEF. Theissuewas considered further during informal consultations
held from 12-15 September. These consultationsfocused ona
proposed draft decision submitted by the G-77/China containing addi-
tional guidanceto the GEF initsrole asthe operating entity of the
financial mechanism. The proposal aimsat integrating decisionsthat
refer to the GEF' s activities. In further consultations, Parties
responded to and discussed the text. The US, with Canadaand the EU
said the proposal addressed issues currently under considerationin
other negotiating groups, such as discussions on Stage |11 adaptation,

and cautioned against moving beyond other related negotiations. The
G-77/Chinasaid ongoing discussionsin other groups should not
prevent guidance being given to the financial mechanism.

Inthe SBI Plenary on Friday, 15 September, Chair Ashe announced
that consideration of thismatter would continue during the second part
of SB-13, and that a contact group would be convened, chaired by
Kerry Groves (Australia) and SBI Chair Ashe. Delegates adopted the
draft Chair’s conclusions (FCCC/SBI/2000/CRP.9), noting the estab-
lishment of this contact group to consider thistext, following asmall
amendment proposed by the USto delete arequest for additional
submissions by 22 September.” The draft decision (FCCC/SBI/2000/
CRP9/Add.1), which will bethe subject of contact group discussions,
remains bracketed almost in itsentirety. It provides additional advice
tothe GEF in thelight of the launch of negotiations on the GEF sthird
replenishment. Thetext, inter alia, decidesthat the GEF should
provide financial resourcesto devel oping country Parties, in particular
the least devel oped and small island devel oping Statesin arange of
activitiesrelating to capacity building.

VENUE OF COP-7

SBI considered this agendaitem on Tuesday, 12 September. Dele-
gates adopted adraft decision on the matter for adoption by COP-6
(FCCC/SBI/2000/L .3), which acceptswith gratitude the offer of the
Kingdom of Morocco to host COP-7 and decidesthat it will be held in
Marrakech from 29 Octaber - 9 November 2001.

ADMINISTRATIVE AND FINANCIAL MATTERS

POSSIBLE OPTIONSTO RESPOND TO LATE PAYMENT
OF CONTRIBUTIONS: On Monday, 11 September, delegates
engaged ininformal consultations. The US, with the Russian Federa-
tion, addressed the issue of late payment of dues, seeking information
on existing practicesin other UN forums. Speaking for several devel-
oping countries, Iran asked for a postponement of the discussion until
COP-6, and Argentinaadded that the optionsincluded were unaccept-
able. The US stated that 89% of dues had been collected this year,
whilethe Secretariat noted that, although thiswas correct, one-third of
Parties had not yet paid.

SBI considered thisissuein Plenary on Tuesday, 12 September.
Mahmoud Ould El Ghaouth (Mauritania) reported that the informal
consultationswere still ongoing and that Parties preferred deferring
finalizing the draft decision until the second part of SBI-13.

Initsconclusions (FCCC/SBI/2000/L.2), the SBI decided that the
Chair should continueinformal consultations and decisionson this
item be postponed until the second part of SBI-13, with aview to
recommending adraft decision for adoption by COP-6.

AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT S 1998-1999 AND
INTERIM FINANCIAL PERFORM ANCE 2000: SBI considered
these sub-items on Tuesday, 12 September. Delegatestook note of the
Secretariat’sreport on the audited financial report (1999) and interim
financial performance (2000). On Friday, 15 September, SBI adopted
its recommendations (FCCC/SBI/2000/CRP.8) to COP-6to, inter alia:

« invitethe Executive Secretary to report on the implementation of
the audit recommendations,

 urgePartiesthat havenot paid their contributionsto the core
budget, to do so with out further delay;

« notetheinitiative of the Executive Secretaries of the FCCC and
the Convention to Combat Desertification to establish common
administrative and support services;

 reguest the Executive Secretary to submit for SBI-14 consider-



Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 9

T

Monday, 18 September 2000

ation, aproposed programme budget for the biennium 2002—-2003;
and
* request the SBI to recommend aprogramme budget for adoption

by COP-6.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE HEADQUARTERSAGREE-
MENT: On Tuesday, 12 September, SBI Chair Asherecalled concerns
raised at SBI-12 relating to integration with the host country, namely
inadequate office space and difficulties acquiring visas and work
permits. Germany provided an interim report on action being taken,
noting progressthat has been madeto resolve theseissues. Inits
conclusions (FCCC/SBI/2000/L.2), SBI took note of the statement by
Germany and invited Germany to report on progress at its next session.

OTHER MATTERS

On Friday, 15 September, Chair Asheinformed the SBI of a
proposal to revisethe schedule at COP-6 for the adoption of the COP’'s
agenda. Delegates agreed to the suggestion to adopt the COP-6 agenda
on 13 November, at the start of thefirst week of COP-6, rather than on
20 November, asoriginally planned.

He informed the SBI that there had been consultations on certain
technical problemsrelating to datesfor thefirst sessional periodin
2001. He said consensus on a suggestion to change the dates from the
end of May 2001 to thefirst two weeks of June had not been reached,
and the dates woul d thus remain unchanged.

CLOSING SBI PLENARY

Onthe evening of Friday, 15 September, SBI adopted its report of
the session (FCCC/SBI/2000/L.2). BurkinaFaso, speaking for the
AfricaGroup, congratulated Chair Ashe on SBI’swork. He under-
scored the need to pay particular attention to the needs and situations
of LDCs. Noting that LDCsdid not feel adequately involvedinthe
work of the GEF, he said the SBI should request the GEF to focusin
particular on Africa, taking into account the specific needs of each
country, and taking a sub-regional approach to capacity building. He
expressed hope that COP-6 would produce a successful outcome. The
meeting was adjourned shortly after 8:00 pm.

JOINT SBI/SBSTA SESSIONS

Thefirstjoint SBI/SBSTA meeting took place on Monday, 11
September, with general statements by anumber of Parties. The Euro-
pean Commission expressed hope that COP-6 would ensure the ratifi-
cation of the Pratocol for entry into force in 2002. She encouraged
strong conseguencesin cases of hon-compliance. France, on behalf of
the EU, suggested that the momentum from Kyoto had been lost. She
urged each country to assumeits responsibility and adopt emissions
reduction measures. Switzerland announced the formation of the Envi-
ronmental Integrity Group that al so includes Mexico and South Korea.
He said the group would emphasi ze the need to achieve “ environ-
mental integrity” in the outcomes of climate change negotiations.

Nigeria, on behalf of the G-77/China, expressed concern that
developed countries were not engaging in meaningful FCCC imple-
mentation. He stressed the importance of taking comprehensive deci-
sionson all issues. The AfricaGroup noted concernswith availability
of trandl ated documents, the convening of too many meetingsandrigid
positionstaken by devel oped countries. Venezuela said devel oped
countries should not avoid commitments or attempt to transfer
commitmentsto devel oping countries. Indonesia stressed the impor-
tance of capacity building, adaptation, Annex | domestic action, and
technology transfer.

IMPLEMENTATION OF FCCC ARTICLE 4.8 AND 4.9 AND
MATTERS RELATING TO PROTOCOL ARTICLE 3.14
(ADVERSE EFFECTS)

Delegates considered FCCC Article 4.8 and 4.9 and Protocol
Article 3.14 infiveinformal meetings during the pre-sessional week,
at ajoint SBI/SBSTA meeting on Monday, 11 September, andin five
subsequent joint contact groups. Theinformal meetings and contact
groupswere co-chaired by Bo Kjellén (Sweden) and Abdulmuhsen
Al-Sunaid (Saudi Arabia), temporarily replacing Mohamad Reza
Salamat (Iran), who will return to take up his position as Co-Chair at
the second part of SBSTA-13. The Chairs’ draft conclusionswere
adopted at ajoint SBI/SBSTA meeting on Friday, 15 September.

Inthefirst informal meetings del egates considered the Co-Chairs
negotiating text that had been the outcome of inter-sessional consulta-
tionsin Bonnin August. Zimbabwe, on behalf of the G-77/China,
called for two separate draft decisions, one on FCCC Article 4.8 and
4.9, and another on Protocol Article 3.14. Uganda, the Gambia, Nepal,
BurkinaFaso, the US and others stressed clear articul ation of the needs
and concerns of |east devel oped countries (LDCs) inthetext and deci-
sions.

On adverse effects of climate change, the G-77/Chinasaid
emphasis on the use of national communications exclusively to report
on actions and assess vulnerability should not constrain actionsinthe
most vulnerable and least devel oped countriesthat may not already
have disseminated or compiled thisinformation dueto, inter alia, lack
of capacity and funding. The US said other sources of information for
this assessment were al so acceptable, and stressed that any actions
should befocused and effective. In responseto the G-77/China’s
suggestion to create afund to support these activities, Japan and the
USrecalled that the GEF was the vehicle for thisfunding. Canada,
supported by Norway, the UK, and US, stressed referring to the
country-driven approach, national circumstances and sustainable
development. Canada suggested requesting the Secretariat to organize
workshops on adverse effects and on response measures, and report on
the outcomes at COP-7. Del egates discussed the importance of rapid
response systemsto climate events. The EU, opposed by several
developing countries, cautioned against creating a separate disaster
fund for climate-related events.

On Protocol Article 3.14, several developed countries noted that it
dealt primarily with the impact of response measures, and suggested
merging it with the previous section of the text that directly addressed
thisissue. Australia, Poland, the US, the EU and other Annex | Parties
expressed reservations on aparagraph inviting Annex | Partiesto
provideinformation on, inter alia, existing market imperfectionsand
subsidiesin the energy sector. Saudi Arabia urged that the paragraph
be retained.

On Friday, 8 September, del egates completed discussions onthe
Co-Chairs’ draft negotiating text during theinformal sessions. Several
Annex | countries, opposed by some devel oping countries, suggested
deleting a paragraph on actionsrelated to policy options. Saudi Arabia
stressed theimportance of assisting economic diversificationin oil-
exporting devel oping countries, and supported tax restructuring in
Annex | Parties. With Libya, Qatar and Venezuel a, he supported
discouraging fossil fuel productionin Annex | countries. Libyaunder-
scored the externalities of nuclear energy.

Atajoint SBI/SBSTA meeting on Monday, 11 September, Chair
Dovland noted that negotiating text had been prepared based on the
informal consultationsthe previousweek, in addition tothoseheldin



Monday, 18 September 2000

S

Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 10

August. Co-Chair Al-Sunaid noted progress, but drew attention to
disagreements over whether to have two decisionsthat address FCCC
Article4.8 and 4.9 and Protocol Article 3.14 separately, or one deci-
sion dealing with both.

The G-77/Chinacalled for thewill toimplement “long overdue’
actionson FCCC Article4.8 and 4.9 at COP-6 and, supported by Saudi
Arabia, the United Arab Emirates and Jamaica, but opposed by the EU
and the US, reiterated the call for two separate decisions. Discussions
werereferred to acontact group that met five timesfrom 11-15
September.

The contact group continued considering the revised draft text. On
text relating to the provision of information by L DCsthrough sources
other than national communications, the G-77/Chinarepeated that
many devel oping countries had difficulties completing their national
communications, and re-emphasised that other relevant information
should also serve asthe basis for determining their adaptation activi-
ties. Vanuatu, on behalf of the LDCs, cited marginalization in the
process, and requested that their special needs be considered. Burkina
Faso underscored the importance of establishing and strengthening
national and regional institutionsfor, inter alia, research on climate
change and its adverse effects.

Chinaunderscored integrating adaptati on into sustainabl e devel op-
ment programmes, since thisisthe ultimate objective of the FCCC, but
stressed theright of asovereign Stateto design its own national poli-
cies. The US cautioned against the implications of thisfor GEF
funding according to the three-stage process set out by decision 11/
CPR1. The EU, supported by the US and Canada, endorsed text on pilot
and/or demonstration projectsthat support the concept of learning by
doing. The G-77/Chinapreferred text onimmediateimplementation of
adaptation activities, where sufficient information isavailable.

On establishing afund for climate-related disaster relief, the EU
and the US said that such afund could add complexity to the provision
of funding dueto the recognized difficulty in distinguishing between
natural and human-induced climate disasters.

Saudi Arabia, supported by several other devel oping countries,
said Article 3.14 referred only to actions by Annex | Partiesand indi-
cated that it wasinappropriate to suggest that non-Annex | Parties had
obligations under thisarticle. The US supported referencesto non-
Annex | Partiesin thetext, asArticle 3.14 did not specify whether
actionsto be considered by the COP/MOP under thisarticle were
exclusively those of Annex | Parties.

Ontheimpact of response measures, Japan, supported by the US,
but opposed by Chinaand Brazil, stressed that non-Annex |l Parties
ableto support devel oping countries should be encouraged to do so.
Text on the process of information analysiswas bracketed. The G-77/
China, Kuwait and Venezuel areiterated the importance of technolog-
ical development relating to fossil fuelsfor diversification of econo-
miesin oil exporting devel oping countries.

Ontext relating to Article 3.14, the G-77/China, with Brazil ,
Colombia, Kuwait, Saudi Arabiaand Venezuela, suggested removing
the paragraph recogni zing the role of flexibility mechanismsin mini-
mizing theimpacts of response measures on non-Annex | Parties.
Australiasaid that cost effective and transparent mechanismswere a
successful way of addressing adverse impacts. The US supported
Australia, but said that in the interest of asuccessful outcome at COP-
6, thetext should focus only on thoseissues addressed in Article 3.14.

At thejoint SBI/SBSTA meeting on Friday, September 15, dele-
gatesadopted draft conclusions (FCCC/SB/2000/CRP.11). Uganda, on
behalf of the LDCs, requested inclusion of afourth paragraph
reguesting the Secretariat to organize aworkshop to identify the
specific needs of LDCsrelated to, inter alia, capacity building and
adaptation. SBI Chair Ashe noted thisrequest. Executive Secretary
Michael Zammit Cutgjar welcomed the emergence of thisgroup. Inthe
draft conclusions on both Implementation of FCCC Article4.8and 4.9
and Protocol Articles2.3 and 3.14, the subsidiary bodies, inter alia:

» agreetoforward thetext (FCCC/SB/2000/CRP.11/Add.1) to the
second part of the thirteenth sessionsfor further consideration;

* invitethe Chairsto conveneinter-sessional consultationsonthese
items; and

* decideto resume negotiations on the two agendaitemsbased on
thetext at the second part of the thirteenth sessions.

COMPLIANCE

Delegates considered procedures and mechanismsrelatingto a
compliance system under the Protocol in informal meetings during the
pre-sessional week, in ajoint SBI/SBSTA meeting on Friday, 15
September, and in the Joint Working Group on Compliance (IWG)
from 11-15 September. These meetingswere co-chaired by Harald
Dovland (Norway) and Neroni Slade (Samoa). During the informal
week, Parties considered the proposal s from the Co-Chairs of the Joint
Working Group under the Kyoto Protocol (FCCC/SB/2000/7). Based
on Partiesinput, atext by the Co-Chairs of the Joint Working Group on
Compliance (FCCC/SB/2000/CRP.7) was drafted and distributed on
Monday, 11 September. During the first half of SB-13, delegates met
four timesto discussthetext, offer commentsand indicate areaswhere
their submissions had not been reflected. Asaresult of their delibera-
tions, arevised text (FCCC/SB/2000/CRP.10/Add.1) was produced
and adopted by the joint SBI/SBSTA session on Friday, 15 September
asabasisfor further negotiation at COP-6.

GENERAL PROVISIONS: Parties considered general provi-
sionswithin the Co-Chairs’ proposalson Thursday, 14 September.
With respect to the scope of application, Saudi Arabia, opposed by
Samoaand Peru suggested that the compliance system apply to al
commitments— not just those*“ contained” in, but also those “ referred
to” inthe Protocol. Samoaargued that thiswas not justified by the
BAPA and added that the compliance procedure under the Protocol
could not address obligationsin the FCCC.

ESTABLISHMENT AND STRUCTURE: Partiesdiscussed
establishment and structure of the compliance body, ascontained in the
Co-Chairs’ proposals, on Tuesday and Wednesday, 5-6 September, and
ascontainedin the Co-Chairs' text on Tuesday, 12 September. The EU
expressed its preference for: one body with two branches; apowerful
Chair; enforcement measures applying only to Annex | countries; and
facilitative measures applying to the obligations of al Parties. South
Africa, on behalf of the G-77/China, noted preference for one body
with two branches subject to certain conditions, including that the
enforcement branch apply only to Annex | countries, and the composi-
tion of both branches reflect equitable geographic distribution. With
the US, she underlined the need for certainty and due process, and,
with the Russian Federation, opposed the EU proposal for apowerful
Chair. The US accepted the proposed structure of one body with two
branches and supported focus on commitments rather than on Parties.
Switzerland proposed a single body performing both functions, but
with a screening panel that would determine the procedure to be



Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 11

S

Monday, 18 September 2000

followed in each case. The Russian Federation and Japan, opposed by
Samoa, preferred consecutive rather than parallel functions, with the
facilitative stage preceding enforcement.

On the respective mandates of the facilitation and enforcement
branches of the compliance body, the G-77/Chinaexpressed prefer-
encefor, inter alia: delineating mandates clearly; implementing the
principle of comprehensiveness; limiting the enforcement branch’s
mandate to Annex | Parties; and ensuring that the enforcement branch
only addressissues following specific requests. The EU preferred the
branchesto have different expertise corresponding to their functions—
atechnical teamfor facilitation and alegal team for enforcement.
China, Saudi Arabia, Japan, the Russian Federation, Brazil and
Switzerland opposed thisdivision. Australia, the US and New Zealand
supported legal expertise for the enforcement branch, but with access
totechnical expertise, when required. The US, with Canada, Australia
and New Zealand, suggested that where membersfrom one branch
participate in the work of the other, it be on anon-voting basis. TheUS
suggested that the enforcement branch’s mandate include, inter alia:
determining non-compliance with Protocol Article 3.1 (commit-
ments); determining failureto meet eligibility requirementsfor mecha-
nisms; and applying outcomesthat have been agreed in advance, with
discretion regarding submission of issuesto thefacilitation branch.
China, with Brazil, Chile, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and Venezuela, and
opposed by Australia, Canada, Japan, the US and New Zealand,
argued that the mandate of the enforcement body should include
Protocol Articles2.3 and 3.14 (adverse effects). Samoasaid Article
3.14 should be addressed within astrengthened facilitative process.
Saudi Arabia, with the Russian Federation and Venezuel a, but opposed
by Canada, Australiaand New Zealand, supported text referencing
Protocol Article 18 (non-compliance) in the establishment of the
compliance committee. The EU, with Japan, Canada, New Zealand,
Australiaand the US, recommended that the options on the compli-
ance committee's composition be kept open. With Japan and Canada,
she said the enforcement branch should be ableto imposefacilitative
conseguences.

PROCEDURES: Parties discussed procedures of the compliance
body in the context of the Co-Chairs' proposals on Thursday and
Friday, 7-8 September, and in the context of the Co-Chairs’ text on
Wednesday, 13 September. On the submission of questionsto the
compliance body, the G-77/Chinasaid questions of compliance could
beraised by aParty with respect to itself or another Party. Australia,
opposed by Samoa, said that a Party should not be ableto raise ques-
tionswith respect to another Party. The US said a Party should be able
to refer questions with respect to another Party’s compliance only to
thefacilitation branch. The G-77/China, opposed by New Zealand,
supported arole for the COP/MOP. The EU, opposed by China,
supported arolefor the Secretariat.

On the preliminary examination of questions, the G-77/Chinasaid
functions at this stage should include ensuring that the questionis
supported by sufficient information and is not de minimis, and
directing the case to aparticul ar branch. She said thistask should be
undertaken by aplenary of the compliance committee. The UK said
the screening process should simply be an organi zational stageto
ensure that the rel evant branch receivesthe case. He suggested
creating abureau of the compliance committee consisting of two
members, representing the enforcement and facilitative branches, to
perform thisfunction. The Russian Federation suggested that all ques-
tions go automatically to the facilitation branch. The US said there

should betwo functions, onerelated to allocation and the other to
substance. The allocation function would be performed by a bureau of
the complianceinstitution, and the substantive screening, whichwould
be necessary only for casesreferred to the enforcement branch, would
be undertaken by the enforcement branch.

With respect to the procedures for further handling of questions,
the G-77/Chinasaid procedures rel ating to decision-making, participa
tion, conflict of interest and information sources should be equally
applicableto both branches. The US suggested having two separate
and compl ete procedures. Samoa and the US said the enforcement
branch could address specific provisions and the facilitation branch
could have broad jurisdiction. Brazil, opposed by Australiaand the
Russian Federation, supported distinguishing between facilitation
availableto Annex | and non-Annex | Parties.

On appeal s, the EU, Micronesiaand Samoa, opposed by New
Zealand, doubted their necessity, sinceit would delay the process and
merely afford Parties the opportunity to have their case heard twice.
The US, whileretaining the“no appeal” option, said any appeal body
should belimited to overriding decisions. Saudi Arabiasuggested that
the COP/M OP be the appeal s bodly.

CONSEQUENCES: Partiesdiscussed outcomes and conse-
guences of non-compliance within the context of the Co-Chairs’
proposalson Saturday, 9 September, and Thursday, 14 September. The
G-77/China, opposed by the US, New Zealand and Australia,
suggested differentiating between Annex | and non-Annex | Parties.
The EU emphasized the role of P& Msin compliance action plansand,
opposed by Australiaand Chile, advocated an open-ended list of facili-
tation consequences. The US said the facilitation branch should not
apply mandatory outcomes. The Russian Federation highlighted
concernsrelating to, inter alia: publication of potential non-compli-
ance; initiation by the facilitation branch of the enforcement proce-
dure; and the cal culation of excesstonnesto be deducted from a
Party’s assigned amount. Switzerland, of behalf of the Environmental
Integrity Group, supported the following conseguences: acompliance
action plan, restrictions on the use of mechanisms, and acompliance
fund. Australiaopposed financial penaltiesand theissuing of cautions.
With the Russian Federation, and opposed by Samoa, Palau, Micron-
esiaand Brazil, she argued against binding consequences.

OTHER PROVISIONS: Parties considered adoption in the
context of the Co-Chairs' proposals on Saturday, 9 September, and
Thursday, 14 September. The US outlined three options: the COP
recommends to the COP/M OP that the attached decision be adopted;
the COP recommendsto the COP/M OP that the attached decision be
included in the decision on the second commitment period; or the COP
adoptsalegal instrument that entersinto force at the sametime asthe
Protocol. The EU presented two options; adoption of adecision by
COP-6 that would have immediate interim effect, accompanied by a
recommendation to COP/MOP-1 to adopt an identical instrument; or
adoption of alegal instrument that would enter into force at the same
time asthe Protocol. Parties supported different options based on their
positions on the need for binding consequences.

REPORT OF THE JOINT WORKING GROUP: OnFriday, 15
September, the IWG considered and accepted the report on itswork
during SB-13. Thereport (FCCC/SB/2000/CRP.10) was adopted by
thejoint SBI/SBSTA on Friday, 15 September. Initsreport, the IWG,
inter alia, requeststhe Co-Chairsto further devel op the text on compli-
ance (FCCC/SB/2000/CRP.10/Add.1) to serve asabasisfor negotia-
tions, along with inputsfrom Parties, at the second part of SB-13.



Monday, 18 September 2000

Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 12

ACTIVITIESIMPLEMENTED JOINTLY

At the SBSTA-13 Plenary on Monday, 11 September, the Secre-
tariat presented areport on activitiesimplemented jointly (AlJ) under
the pilot phaseindicating the need for, inter alia, better regional and
technical distribution of projects, improved quality of reporting, and
strengthened capacity in host countries. It noted that arevised uniform
reporting format was available. China, with Saudi Arabia, Egypt and
Tunisia, highlighted the need to extend the pil ot phase and ensure
greater geographic balancein projects. With the USand Canada, he
suggested that the revised uniform reporting format be discussed at
SBSTA-14. Hungary suggested that the AlJ experience should be used
toimplement JI, and the EU said it could be used to elaborate the CDM
Reference Manual . She added that crediting for projects should only be
possible after the Protocol comesinto effect.

On Friday, 15 September, the SBI/SBSTA adopted adecision
(FCCC/SBI/2000/L.2) deferring further discussion on AlJand the
revised uniform reporting format to SBSTA-14.

MECHANISMS

Delegates discussed issues and heard presentations on the Protocol
mechanismsin workshops during the pre-sessional week, at ajoint
SBI/SBSTA session on Monday, 11 September, and in subsequent
contact group meetings. Based on the discussions and on written
submissionson the Chairs' consolidated text on principles, modalities,
rules and guidelines on mechanisms (FCCC/SB/2000/4), arevised
consolidated text was drafted and distributed in four volumeson
Friday, 15 September (FCCC/SB/CRP.14/Add.1 — Volumes 1-4).

CLEAN DEVELOPMENT MECHANISM: OnMonday, 4
September, the Secretariat gave a presentation on the proposed CDM
Reference Manual and on accreditation. Saudi Arabiahighlighted the
political nature of CDM-related decisions, urged that decisionson
baselines be undertaken by the COP/MOP, and expressed reservations
about the need for a Reference Manual. Brazil, with Colombia, South
Africa, Chinaand Morocco, said decisions on baselines should be
taken by apalitically appointed body, such asthe Executive Board
(EB). China, withthe US, expressed preference for asingle worldwide
accreditation body. The Republic of Koreahighlighted additionality
and questioned whether the Manual would be acompilation of COP/
MOP and EB decisions, or would include technical advice. TheUS
supported the Manual serving asarepository of decisions, whilethe
EU urged that it be of atechnical nature. The EU suggested that the
role of the EB liesin the accreditation and random checking of Opera-
tional Entities. The Philippines expressed concern at agreeing on the
form of the Manual before agreeing on the substance of itscontent. She
sought clarity on the certification of project activitiesand emissions
reduction.

On Tuesday, 5 September, Chair Kok Kee Chow (Malaysia) gavea
presentation on theinstitutional issuesrelating to the CDM. On the
role of the COP/MOP, South Africa, supported by Samoa, identified an
overlap in the functions assigned to the COP/M OR, the EB and the
compliance body. Samoa, supported by the EU, reminded Parties of
theagreement at Kyoto that the COP/M OP would not deal with routine
CDM concerns. With the US, she stressed the need for technical exper-
tiseinthe EB. The EU envisaged avariety of functionsfor the EB,
including: issuing Certified Emission Reductions (CERS); registering
projects; and addressing issues rel ated to accreditation of Operational
Entities.

Discussion on text on the CDM in the draft consolidated text
commenced on Saturday, 9 September. Australia, Canada, Japan, and
Norway underlined the need for aprompt start. Saudi Arabiahigh-
lighted legal difficultieswith aprompt start, and suggested expanding
the Al1J pilot phase to accommodate this. The EU and Switzerland said
the CDM should commenceimmediately after COP-6 on apermanent
rather than interim basis. The Africa Group proposed astand-alone
decision on interim arrangements. Parties differed on the use of a posi-
tivelist of CDM projects.

On Tuesday, 12 September, del egates reviewed the draft decision
onthe CDM. Japan said any requirements on financial additionality
should not result in diversion of ODA. The US emphasized that revi-
sionsto the modalities, procedures and guidelines be made by
consensus. The G-77/Chinahighlighted the need to distinguish
between additionality and baselines, and emphasized referenceto
funding additionality. The EU, opposed by the G-77/China, proposed
that the COP invitethe IPCC to prepare guidelinesfor baselines. On
the COP/MOP rules, Norway and the US emphasi zed that institutional
responsihilities be part of the COP-6 decision. On the EB, Norway,
Canada, Japan and the US, opposed by the G-77/China, highlighted a
rolefor the EB in determining new baseline and monitoring methodol -
ogies. On participation, Parties disagreed on the need for text relating
to: projects proposed, devel oped, financed and implemented by non-
Annex | countries; conditions on non-Annex | participation such asthe
fulfillment of commitments under FCCC Article 12 (communication
of information); and certain eligibility criteriafor transfers and acqui-
sitionsunder Protocol Article 3 (commitments).

On Wednesday, 13 September, delegates considered the text on
modalities and proceduresfor aCDM. Japan, Honduras and severa
L atin American Parties, opposed by Tuvalu, proposed deleting the list
of requirementsfor project activities. The Africa Group urged equi-
table geographic distribution of CDM projects. Canada highlighted
difficultiesinimplementing variousforms of additionality other than
environmental additionality.

Onthelinkage between CDM and LULUCEF, Brazil, with the G-77/
China, argued that CDM discussions be contingent on decisionsin the
LULUCEF contact group, and objected to a proposed presentation by
the Secretariat on thisissue, and to a question-and-answer session by
the Chair. Australia, the US, Japan, Switzerland, and New Zealand
expressed concern with this objection. Thisissuewas also addressed
on Thursday, 14 September, in a separate meeting under the LULUCF
Group (see sectionon LULUCEF).

EMISSIONSTRADING: On Wednesday, 6 September, the
Secretariat gave a presentation on liability optionsfor emissions
trading. The US, New Zealand, Canada and Australia stressed therole
of the private sector and the advantages of issuer liability. Switzerland
highlighted concernswith overselling, cautioned against relying solely
on seller liability, and emphasi zed support for “unitsin surplusto
plan.” The EU presented an option representing amix of shared and
acquiring party liability. The G-77/Chinasupported surplus units, and
emphasized the importance of nature and scope, supplementarity, and
the precautionary approach.

Parties continued deliberations on the consolidated text on
Thursday, 14 September. On the draft decision, the EU, Japan and
Norway questioned the need for text on principles. The G-77/China,
with Brazil, Samoa and Jamaica, and opposed by the US and Canada,
said assigned amounts (AAs) werefixed. Chair Chow gave apresenta
tion on AAs. Samoaquestioned whether partsof AAs(PAAS) could be



Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 13

S

Monday, 18 September 2000

held by allocated legal entitiesor only by sovereign States, and
suggested that theissue of legal entities participating in emissions
trading be addressed in the appendix on domestic systems. She added
that if legal entitieswere allowed to participate, the process must be
transparent. On the modalities of operation, the G-77/China, opposed
by Canada, questioned whether Parties could transfer PAAsthat
remained unused because of factors other than P& Ms, such as
economic recession. Canada, opposed by the G-77/Chinaand EU,
suggested withdrawing the appendix on elaborating guidelineson
national systemsrelating to AA unitsand/or PAAs. On the share of
proceeds, the US proposed that the group on guidelines addressthis.

JOINT IMPLEMENTATION: On Thursday, 7 September,
Parties reviewed the draft decision on guidelinesfor implementation
of Protocol Article6 (J1). AOSIS, opposed by Norway, Poland and
Canada, proposed removing reference to these being guidelines.
Partieswere unableto agree on whether to retain text relating to equity,
comprehensiveness, transparency, climate change effectiveness,
fungibility, and sharing of proceeds.

Parties continued discussions on Friday, 8 September. On the COP/
M OP, Japan, Canada, the US and Poland reiterated preference for
existing Article 6 provisions. The G-77/Chinaurged the samerigor for
Jl asfor CDM. On participation, the EU referred to itstwo-track
approach, which relatesto the transfer of emission reduction units, in
terms of which Parties complying with aset of identified preconditions
may follow amore simplified procedure for transfer. The USand
Norway expressed interest in the proposal , with caveats. On moni-
toring, the EU, supported by several Annex | countries, proposed an
option consistent with itstwo-track approach. Saudi Arabia, supported
by Canada, bracketed reference to the CDM Reference Manual. On
supplementarity, the EU, G-77/Chinaand Hungary emphasized
domestic action asthe primary meansto fulfill commitments. Saudi
Arabia, with the AfricaGroup, suggested a cap of 25-30%. The EU
elaborated ontwo formulae: for aceiling on net transfersand for a
ceiling on net acquisitions. The US and Canada emphasized concerns
with quantitative caps.

CONCLUSIONSON MECHANISMS: On Friday, 15
September, the SBI/SBSTA adopted draft conclusions on mechanisms
(FCCC/SB/2000/CRP.14). Inthese conclusions, the SBI/SBSTA:
notes the progress made in implementing the work programme on
mechanisms; agreesto forward to the second part of SBSTA the
revised consolidated text; and invitesthe Chairs of the subsidiary
bodiesto further consolidate the text, in consultation with Parties.
Saudi Arabiasaid it waswilling to accept the conclusionson the
understanding that further consolidation will not eliminate any
proposalsby Parties. He said that the Parties need to decide themselves
whether or not to retain their proposals. The G-77/Chinaurged that the
consultations with the Parties be undertaken in atransparent manne,
and said consolidation of thetext impliesfurther refinement without
any of the proposals being discounted in any manner.

CAPACITY BUILDING

Thisissue was considered ininformal meetingsfrom 4-9
September and subsequently by the SBI on 12 September. A contact
group, co-chaired by SBI Chair Ashe and Jukka Uosukainen (Finland)
met from 11-15 September.

CLIMATE DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVE (CDI): On4
September, delegates convened in regional group meetingsto hear
presentations and discuss conclusions on the CDI regional reviews.

The group on Small Island Devel oping States considered waysto
advance the process, noting that interim actions could be taken at the
regional level to addressimmediate needsalready identified. The
Asia-Pacific meeting discussed the report’sfocus on the need to, inter
alia: strengthen existing networks of regional and national expertsand
institutions offering training; consider the specific social and cultural
context in technol ogy transfer; and ensure that capacity development
is country-driven. Participantsin the African meeting expressed
concern with the process of devel oping the regional reviews, and
called for moretimeto consider the report. The Eastern Europe and
Central Asiagroup highlighted, inter alia, ashort-term project-based
and long-term systematic approach to capacity building, and regional
diversity. Participantsin the Latin Americaand Caribbean Group
emphasized thelack of negotiating capacity, which isaffected by rapid
rotation of diplomatic staff, and the need for financial resourcesfor
countriesto manage their own capacity-building priorities.

On Wednesday, 6 September, del egates discussed the CDI and its
next phase with GEF and UNDP representatives. Delegates discussed
the source of funding for the GEF' s CDI. They questioned itsvalue as
aseparateinitiative, noting that much of what had been rai sed through
this process had been previously elaborated in COP decisions.

ECONOMIESIN TRANSITION (EITS): Informal meetingson
capacity building in EITswere held from Wednesday, 6 September, to
Thursday, 14 September. Delegates discussed a draft framework for
capacity building in countrieswith EITs. During the discussion, the
US, with Hungary, suggested that capacity building focuson
implementation of the FCCC and Protocol, rather than sustainable
development. Clarity was sought on referencesto timeframesand
benchmarks, and whether support for technol ogies constituted
capacity building.

On implementation, several Parties emphasized the need for EITs
to provide an enabling environment. They highlighted the need for,
inter alia: theframework to provide aclear basisfor action; aresults-
based approach to capacity building to ensureits effectiveness; consid-
eration of past and present activities; elaboration of mutual responsi-
bilities; and consistency between any additional reporting obligations
with the guidelines of national communications. On 11 September,
Sloveniaintroduced aproposal for adraft decision, which callsfor a
prompt start to capacity building in EITs, and a COP decision to
initiate the creation of theframework for capacity building.

On 14 September, del egates considered arevised draft of the text.
Among theissuesraised in discussing the draft framework wasthe
need to elaborate one formulation regarding implementation of the
FCCC and Protocol and to clarify how information will be provided to
enablethe COPto review progressin implementing the framework.
Following extensive discussions, anumber of paragraphsin the draft
framework were bracketed, including several referencesto the
Protocol.

On Friday, 15 September, del egates adopted the conclusions of the
joint SBI/SBTSA session, which agreeto further consider, at the
second part of SB-13 in November, the proposed draft decision on
capacity building in economiesin transition (FCCC/SB/2000/CRP.13/
Add.2) with aview to recommending adecision for COP-6 adoption.

The proposed draft decision for capacity buildingin EITscalson
the COPto, inter alia:

 adopt theframework withimmediate effect;
 invite Annex Il Partiesand El Tsto provideinformation to enable
the COPanditssubsidiary bodiesto monitor progressinthe



Monday, 18 September 2000

Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 14

implementation of theframework;

» urgeAnnex || Partiesthrough the multilateral agencies, including
the GEF CDI, and other bil ateral agenciesand the private sector,
to ensurefinancia resourcesand technical support required for the
implementation of theframework; and

« further urgemultilateral and bilateral agenciesto coordinatein
providing streamlined and expedited approachesto financing and
supporting theimplementation of the capacity-building
framework.

DEVEL OPING COUNTRIES: Participants began consideration
of draft text on capacity building in devel oping countrieson Thursday,
7 September. They subsequently considered the revised draft briefly
on 14 September and informally on 15 September.

In discussing the draft framework, del egates highlighted the need
to, inter alia: ensure consistency with the capacity building aspects of
other discussions on technology transfer and adaptation; draw lessons
from existing activities; establish an appropriate enabling environment
for capacity building; mobilize and strengthen existing regional and
sub-regional institutions; provide good guidance to the GEF; and take
into account past actions and devel op coherence with present activities
in order to define those that will support FCCC implementation.
AQOSISsaid capacity building wasadynamic and iterative processthat
would be augmented by experiences from implementing other aspects
of the FCCC. She said the needs assessment should not be used asan
excuseto delay action on those needsthat have already beenidentified.
A proposal for adraft decision on capacity building by the G-77/China
was not discussed in the contact group dueto time limitations.

On Friday, 15 September, delegates adopted the conclusions of the
joint SBI/SBTSA session, which agreeto further consider, at the
second part of SB-13in November, the proposed draft decision on
capacity building in devel oping countries (FCCC/SB/2000/CRP.13/
Add.1) with aview to recommending adecision for COP-6 adoption.

Bracketed text in the draft decision for capacity building in devel-
oping countriesinclude paragraphs calling on the COPto:

« decidethat theframework shall guideall capacity building activ-
itiesrelated to theimplementation of the Convention and the
Kyoto Protocol; or decideto giveimmediate effect to theimple-
mentation of theframework in order to assist devel oping countries
toimplement the Convention;

* reguest the GEF to provide financing to implement their capacity
building activitiesunder each areaof the Convention and include
initsreport to the COP at each session, information onthe
financing and implementation of capacity building activities
conducted under theframework;

« decideto review the progressinimplementing the decision at each
session; and

« decideto establish aspecial LDC fundto support and promote
effectiveimplementation of the Convention and Kyoto Protocol,
and the Convention processeswithin thetimeframe specified in
theframework.

CLOSING SBI/SBSTA PLENARY
SBI Chair Ashe opened thefinal joint SBI/SBSTA meeting on
Friday evening, 15 September. Parties expressed their appreciation to
the French Government and the city of Lyon for hosting SB-13.
Nigeria, on behalf of the G-77/China, expressed disappointment
that more progress had not been achieved at thiscritical sessionin
Lyon. He asked whether devel oped countriesintended to accommo-

datethe priorities of developing countries. He called for transparency
in negotiations, and insisted that each Party at COP-6 beinvolvedin
the decision-making process.

Vanuatu, speaking for the LDCs, noted that this group had only
established itself recently. He called on all devel oped countriesto
implement their FCCC obligations, and requested that aworkshop be
organized for LDCsto focus on key issuesin thelead-up to COP-6. In
response, FCCC Executive Secretary Cutgjar said that funding was
availableto comply with thisrequest, although the issue of timing
would haveto be addressed. He suggested that the workshop either
take placein October or immediately prior to COP-6. He also drew
delegates’ attention to the fact that there had been anumber of recent
ratifications of the Kyoto Protocol, meaning morethan half of the 55
countriesrequired to ratify in order for the Protocol to enter into force
had now done so. Saudi Arabiaand Brazil expressed support for recog-
nizing the needs and situations of LDCs.

The Union of Industrial and Employers' Confederations of Europe
(UNICE), speaking on behalf of the business community, highlighted
that actionstaken by business and industry would be fundamental to
Parties achieving the commitments agreed to in Kyoto. Regarding the
mechani sms, he suggested: keeping the process and proceduresfor the
proj ect-based mechanisms clear and concise; minimizing transaction
costs; not limiting the eligibility and use of any technologiesinimple-
menting the Protocol; and ensuring there are no limits, ceiling or share
of the proceeds type fees apart fromin the CDM. He expressed
concern at thelengthy texts currently before SB-13 that contained
many unresolved issues, and at the significant work required for a
successful outcome for COP-6.

The Indigenous Peoples’ Group noted that there are 350-400
million who identify themselves asindigenous peopl es. He expressed
opposition to the use of sinksin the CDM, suggesting it would result in
aviolation of therights of indigenous peoples. He said negotiations
must involve full participation of indigenous peoples.

Following these statements, the Secretariat announced informal
consultations during the intersessional period prior to COP-6 relating
to:

» Protocol Articles5, 7 and 8 (6-8 Octaber, Bonn);

e LULUCF (9-11 October, Viterbo, Italy);

» compliance (12-14 October, New Delhi);

» mechanisms(16-18 October, New Delhi); and,

» adverseeffects(tentatively scheduled for 19-22 October, Geneva).

SBI Chair Ashe noted that participants had worked very hard,
narrowing differences and producing negotiating texts on most issues
that he hoped would pave the way for aset of decisionsat COP-6.
However, he also drew attention to the considerable amount of work
remaining in the lead-up to COP-6, and at COP-6 itself. He hoped that
results achieved in November woul d trigger ratification of the Protocol
and further strengthen implementation of the FCCC. Heinformed
delegatesthat SB-13 would resumein The Hague, and suspended the
meeting at 10:45 pm.

A BRIEF ANALYSIS OF SB-13

SB-13: HAVE WE TRAVELLED FAR ENOUGH?

At the end of two weeks of intense deliberations, delegatesand
observers may have good cause to feel concerned. Political positions
onthe key issuesremain entrenched, with littleindication of willing-
nessto compromise or move forward. Some might argue that thiswas



Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 15

3

Monday, 18 September 2000

never the meeting’'s aim, suggesting that its core purpose wasto
develop negotiating text and narrow differences on technical matters.
But even on thismore limited objective, progresswas patchy. While
such text emerged on the key elements of the BAPA —mechanisms,
compliance, adverse effects, technology transfer, LULUCF and poli-
ciesand measures—all of these documentsremain riddled with
brackets. In some cases negotiationsalmost ground to ahalt, indicating
an apparent unwillingness of Partiesto make even relatively minor
concessions. With only eight weeks remaining, and with many tech-
nical and political questions needing to beresolved, observersare
beginning to question whether COP-6 will succeed.

Thetiming and location of the meeting wasironic. While French
Prime Minister Jospin’s presence at SB-13 suggested some political
commitment to making progress on climate change, his concessionsin
lowering taxesin responseto the French fuel protests, which coincided
with this meeting, highlight the political difficultiesinimplementing
effective climate policies.

MECHANISMS—RUNNING OUT OF GAS?

Progress on mechanisms was disappointing. Partiesarrived at SB-
13 with a 125-page text, and departed with a 200-pagetext and an
assurancethat they will be able to make further submissions prior to
COP-6. The battle lines remain drawn on issues such as* supplementa-
rity,” an issue that has plagued the mechanisms discussions since their
inception. Whilethe EU and G-77/Chinaarein favor of quantitative
caps and domestic action, the Umbrella Group (an informal alliance of
like-minded devel oped countries, including Australia, Canada, Japan
and the US) isagainst this, citing the power of the market to determine
the appropriate balance. Inasimilar vein, therole of legal entitiesin
emissionstrading, and the need to build in appropriate safeguardsto
ensure proper accounting, has comein for heated debate.

One particularly crucia areaof disagreement and controversy,
however, remainstheissue of including sinksinthe CDM. Thereis
littte movement on thisissue, whether between or within negotiating
groups or even within the NGO community. Some Parties, including
the EU, Tuvalu, Samoa, Chinaand Jamaica, arein favor of excluding
sinksfrom the CDM. The concerns about uncertainty, leakage and
non-permanence, if realized, could contribute to making a mockery of
the Kyoto targets, yet sinks could offer the potential for contribution to
sustai nable devel opment in some devel oping countries, whilefocusing
efforts on carbon sequestration. The outcome at COP-6 on thisissue
will largely depend on the political initiative taken at the Ministerial
consultations dated for early October, where LULUCF in general,
particularly sinksunder the CDM, is expected to be at the top of the
agenda.

CRUISING ON COMPLIANCE

The Joint Working Group on Compliance made steady progress,
producing a streamlined text for further negotiation, and winning the
Group kudosfor itswork. However, fundamental issuesremain unre-
solved. It remains unclear whether the compliance system will apply
only to Protocol commitmentsor also to commitments“referred to” in
the Protocol (namely FCCC commitments), whether the compliance
system can apply to outcomes with binding consequences, and
whether the compliance committee will have equal representation
from the five UN regional groups or predominantly from Annex |
countries. Thework in the compliance group isintricately linked both
to the work in the mechanisms group and to the group on Articles5,7
and 8. The stronger the compliance system, the more ambiguousthe

provisionsrelating to the mechanisms arelikely to be, and vice versa.
Thework of the Article 5,7 and 8 group feedsinto the compliance
group. While most of the technical issuesare easy to settle, certain

i ssues such asthose rel ating to the determination of the entity charged
withidentifying first order compliance problems and the composition
of Expert Review Teams are seen asmore controversial. No decisions
will betaken in any one of these groups without clear reference, both
technical and political, to thework of the other groups.

FUELING THE DEBATE ON LULUCF

Thisgroup produced aslim Co-Chairs' text on elements under
Article 3.3 (afforestation, reforestation and deforestation) and 3.4
(additional activities) setting out the choices Partieswill haveto make
at COP-6. Onceagain, crucial issuesare yet to be resolved, including
those regarding accounting systems. Views range from those of the G-
77/Chinaand the Environmental Integrity Group, which are opposed
to crediting natural uptake of carbon in terrestrial systemsand corre-
sponding smaller actual emissions cutsin Annex | countries, to those
of Japan, which favor factoring in such effects. Theintegrity of the
Protocol targets hinge on which and how much of the additional activi-
tiesunder Article 3.4 will beeligible, and how and if such activitiesare
to be phased-in or discounted for.

POLICIESAND MEASURES—SPLUTTERING TO A HALT

Thisisakey issuefor the EU, which at SB-13 urged the establish-
ment of a“ consultative process’ to promote information exchange and
experience on P& Ms, facilitate cooperation between Parties, and
contribute to the assessment of demonstrable progress. By the end of
the second week, a draft decision supportive of its stance had been
weakened and heavily bracketed by the Umbrella Group and Saudi
Arabia, theformer by deleting any meaningful reference to demon-
strable progress, and bracketing thelist of measuresaimed at
improving thetransparency, effectivenessand comparability of P& Ms,
andthelatter by insisting onarolefor OPEC regarding P& Ms. The EU
again appeared to be unableto successfully defend itsposition, leading
one observer to comment that “what was once a cornerstonein the
climate negotiations has becomes asymbol of the crisisininterna-
tional cooperation on climate change.” According to some, the
apparent inability of the EU to negotiate effectively in this sphere
meansthat thisissue may betheonly onethat iseasily resolved at
COP-6.

WAITING IN LINE - “DEVELOPING COUNTRY ISSUES’

Most observersbelieve that an effective outcome at COP-6 will lie
intheresolution of what they describe as* devel oping country issues’—
adaptation, capacity building and technology transfer. Askey elements
of apackage deal, satisfactory movement on these issues could render
devel oping countries amenable to striking deal s el sewhere.

Textswere produced on technol ogy transfer and capacity building,
but they are riddled with brackets. Some observers had hoped for a
resolution on capacity building at SB-13 asaconfidence-building
measure paving the way for aconstructive atmosphere at COP-6.
However, thiswas not to be. Several Annex | countries continued their
focus, both in capacity building and technology transfer, on “needs
assessment,” which appeared to tip the balance of responsibility to
developing countries. The G-77/Chinalost its patience, insisting that
the LDCsand AOSI S had identified their needs and urged immediate
action, rather than repeat assessments and reviewsthat will continueto
delay implementation.



Monday, 18 September 2000

3

Vol. 12 No. 151 Page 16

The GEF s performancein serving the Conference of the Parties
also provoked criticism. The G-77/Chinasuggested that the GEF had
exceeded its mandate asits new Capacity Development I nitiative had
not sought guidance from the COP and was yet another solution
“imposed” on devel oping countries. Saudi Arabia’sinsistenceon
creating anew fund with what many perceived as“ unreasonably high”
designated sums of money further stalled constructive dialogue. Need-
lessto say thiswas met with afrosty reception from devel oped coun-
tries.

Aswith capacity building and technology transfer, the substantive
movement on adverse effectswas minimal. The entire negotiating text
remains bracketed. Disagreement focused mainly onissuesof funding.
Although some oil exporting countries continue to push hard for
“compensation” for theimpacts of response measures, thisremains
fundamentally unacceptableto Annex | Parties, even though they, in
principle, support adaptation as animportant element of the FCCC
process. However, evenrelatively less controversial devel oping-
country requestsfor the establishment of national and regional obser-
vation and research centers and programmes on climate change, as
well asafund for climate-related disaster relief, were not met with
encouraging responses from the Annex | Parties.

TAXING TIMES ON THE ROAD TO COP-6

SB-12 and 13 demonstrated Parties willingnessto make some
progress on technical issues, such asguidelinesunder Articles5, 7 and
8, and set the stage for the i ntense negotiations expected at COP-6. The
guestion remains, isthis progress sufficient?

Thelikely impact of new negotiating groups at COP-6 isunclear.
The establishment of the LDC Group indicatesthat LDC interests are
not been adequately reflected, while the announcement of the Environ-
mental Integrity Group (Mexico, Republic of Koreaand Switzerland)
reflectstheir sense of exclusion during 11th hour negotiations at
previous COPs. Whilethis splintering of traditional negotiating groups
may help to raisethe profile of awider range of interestsand generatea
sense of inclusiveness and transparency, thereisaso therisk that it
may further complicate the negotiating process.

The anticipated visibility of environmental NGOs at The Hague,
and their pressure to generate apositive outcome by shaming Partiesto
produce results, is counterbalanced by the recent evident unwilling-
ness of the public to reducetheir addiction to fossil fuels.

With so many issues still to be resolved, much rests on the shoul-
dersof theincoming President of COP-6, Jan Pronk (Dutch Minister of
Spatial Planning and the Environment). Boasting abackground in
international devel opment i ssues, commentators suggest thismay help
him bridge the North-South divide and broker adeal inthe daysto
come. The hectic schedule of consultations and diplomacy in coming
weeks could generate the necessary momentum for astrong outcome
at COP-6. But with so many unresolved issues and entrenched posi-
tions, the outcomeis now anybody’s guess.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR BEFORE COP-6

LAND USE, LAND-USE CHANGE AND FORESTRY —THE
ROAD TO COP-6: Thismeeting will be held in Joensuu, Finland,
from 25-28 September 2000. Specific themeswill include: carbon
accounting rules, baselines and additionality; the selection of forestry
and land-use activitiesunder Article 3.4; and other issuesrelevant to

COP-6. For moreinformation, contact: Kimberly Robertson, Institute
of Energy Research, Austrig; tel: +43-316-876-1330; fax: +43-316-
876-1320; e-mail: kimberly.robertson@joanneum.ac.at; Internet:
http://www.jocanneum.ac.at/iea-bioenergy-task 25/

NATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS SUPPORT
PROGRAMME WORK SHOPSFOR NON-ANNEX | PARTIES
TO THE FCCC: Launched by UNDP and UNEP in cooperation with
the FCCC Secretariat, this programme providestechnical support for
the preparation of initial national communications under the FCCC.
Four regional workshops remain under the 2000 work programme:

» Asian Regiona Workshop (26-29 September in KualaLumpur,

Malaysia);

» Europeand CI S Regional Workshop (10-12 Octaober, Yerevan,

Armenia);

» Arab States Regional Workshop (5-7 November, Cairo, Egypt);
and
* South American Regional Workshop (12-14 December, Asuncion,

Paraguay).

For more information, contact: Rebecca Carman, National
Communi cations Support Programme, UNDP-GEF, New York; tel:
+1-212-906-6928; fax: +1-212-906-6568; e-mail:
rebecca.carman@undp.org; | nternet: www.undp.org/cc/

FCCCINFORMAL CONSULTATIONS: The FCCC Secretariat
has announced informal consultations during theintersessional period
relating to:

 Protocol Articles5, 7 and 8 (6-8 October, Bonn);

» LULUCF (9-11 October, Viterbo, Italy);

» compliance (12-14 October, New Delhi);

» mechanisms(16-18 October, New Delhi); and,

» adverseeffects(tentatively scheduled for 19-22 October, Geneva).

For moreinformation, contact: the FCCC Secretariat; tel: +49-228-
815-1000; fax: +49-228-815-1999; e-mail: secretariat@unfccc.int;
Internet: http://www.unfccc.int/

EARTH TECHNOL OGIESFORUM:: This meeting, organized
by the Alliance for Responsible Atmospheric Policy, will beheldin
Washington, DC, from 30 October — 1 November 2000. Both ozone
and climate changeissueswill be discussed. For more information,
contact: Alliance for Responsible Atmospheric Policy: tel: +1-703-
243-0344; Internet: http://www.earthforum.com/

NATIONAL AND REGIONAL CLIMATE CHANGE
IMPACT ASSESSMENTSIN THE FORESTRY SECTOR: This
meeting will be held in Potsdam, Germany, from 10-13 November
2000. For more information, contact: Marcus Lindner, Potsdam Insti-
tute for Climate Impact Research, Telegrafenberg, PO. Box 601203,
D-14412 Potsdam, Germany; tel: +49-331-288 2677; fax: +49-331-
288-2695; e-mail: lindner @pik-potsdam.de; Internet: http://www.pik-
potsdam.de/wel come.html

SIXTH CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIESTO THE
FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE:
FCCC COP-6 will be held in The Hague, the Netherlands, from 13-24
November 2000. For moreinformation, contact: the FCCC Secretariat;
tel: +49-228-815-1000; fax: +49-228-815-1999; e-mail: secre-
tariat@unfccc.int; Internet: http://www.unfccc.int/



